RECEIVED

10-19-2015

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT Case No. 2013AP1424-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES ELVIN LAGRONE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District I, Affirming a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Richard J. Sankovitz, Presiding, and from an Order Denying the Postconviction Motion, the Honorable Jeffrey A. Wagner, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

KAITLIN A. LAMB Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1085026

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. In *State v. Weed*, 2003 WI 85, 263 Wis. 2d 434, 666 N.W.2d 485, this Court held that circuit courts *must* conduct a personal, on-the-record colloquy when a criminal defendant waives his fundamental constitutional right to testify at trial. Is a circuit court required to conduct a personal, on-the-record colloquy regarding the waiver of the right to testify at the second phase of a bifurcated criminal proceeding?

The circuit court found that the Fifth Amendment right to testify does not apply at the second phase of a bifurcated criminal proceeding. Consequently, no colloquy regarding the waiver of the right to testify was required. The court of appeals declined to decide this issue of first impression, finding that any error was harmless.

2. Does the harmless error doctrine apply when a circuit court fails to conduct a colloquy regarding the waiver of the right to testify?

The circuit court did not address this question. The court of appeals answered yes, relying on *State v. Nelson*, 2014 WI 70, 355 Wis. 2d 722, 849 N.W.2d 317, which applied harmless error analysis to a circuit court's refusal to allow a defendant to *exercise* the right to testify, not an allegation that the defendant was *unaware* of the right to testify.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

By granting review, this Court has deemed this case appropriate for both oral argument and publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Introduction

An active trombone and trumpet player, James Elvin Lagrone went to college to study music. (5:2; 8:2; 12:8; 20:2). However, at the age of 19 or 20, he started having auditory hallucinations, including hearing voices and receiving "subliminal messages" from the television. (8:2, 4; 20:3, 4). For the next 36 years, Mr. Lagrone floated in and out of various mental health facilities. (5:1-2; 8:2; 20:3).

When in the community, Mr. Lagrone has held a variety of employment including working as a freelance musician, a food service worker, and a part-time teacher of music education. (5:2; 8:2, 6-7; 12:8; 20:2-3). He also receives Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI). (8:2; 12:8; 20:3).

Most recently, Mr. Lagrone was living in Milwaukee in an apartment receiving antipsychotic medication daily. (8:2). Due to side effects, including chronic tremors, which interfered with his ability to play music, Mr. Lagrone was switched to a new antipsychotic medication. (5:2, 5; 8:3, 4, 6). However, after reading about the possible side effects of the new medication, Mr. Lagrone discontinued the medication. (5:2-3; 8:3, 4). After Mr. Lagrone told his case manager that he was no longer taking medication and made a threat to harm his case manager, he was brought to the Milwaukee County Mental Health Complex, where he was

voluntarily admitted on April 20, 2011. (8:3, 4, 7). According to the case manager, a mental health commitment was sought, but dismissed, after no witnesses showed up for the probable cause hearing. (8:7). Mr. Lagrone was released on April 27, 2011. (8:3, 4, 7).

Several days later, on April 30, 2011, Mr. Lagrone forced his way into his ex-girlfriend B. M. J.'s home. (2:2). According to the criminal complaint, over the next day, Mr. Lagrone prevented her from leaving, choked her until she lost consciousness, grabbed and pulled on her breasts, inserted his finger into her vagina, and stuck an unknown object into her anus. (2:2-3, 4-5). When someone came to the home to visit B. M. J., Mr. Lagrone fled the residence in B. M. J.'s car. (*Id.*). That same day, Mr. Lagrone was taken into custody in Portage, Wisconsin after he approached a police officer parked at a gas station. (2:3).

According to the officer, Mr. Lagrone appeared to be "somewhat upset" and "drooling." (12:5). When Mr. Lagrone got out of the car:

his belt was undone and his pants began falling down around his ankles. I asked how I could help him. He began mumbling about almost killing his girlfriend and that he was driving a stolen vehicle and he was wanted by the Milwaukee Police Department. The subject was hallucinating and stating Saten [sic] was talking to him.

(*Id*.).

Mr. Lagrone was charged with five counts: (1) strangulation and suffocation, domestic abuse, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 940.235(1) & 968.075; (2) false imprisonment, domestic abuse, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 940.30 & 968.075; (3) second-degree sexual assault, domestic abuse, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 940.225(2)(a) & 968.075; (4) first degree

recklessly endangering safety, domestic abuse, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 941.30(1) & 968.075; and (5) operating a vehicle without the owner's consent, domestic abuse, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 943.23(3) & 968.075. (2:1-2).

Pre-Trial Proceedings

After the initial appearance, at the request of defense counsel, the court ordered a competency evaluation. (39:3-4). Dr. Robert Rawski, who treated Mr. Lagrone in the past, filed a competency report opining that Mr. Lagrone suffers from paranoid schizophrenia, but was competent to stand trial. (5:3, 5; 40:2). Dr. Rawski noted that Mr. Lagrone's "cognition was improved" compared to the past most likely due to the absence of marijuana use in recent weeks. (5:3). However, he observed that Mr. Lagrone "still has difficulties recalling dates, durations and some chronological history; for example, he could not reasonably estimate when [his original medication] was changed [to a new medication] or when his girlfriend moved out." (*Id.*).

A preliminary hearing was held and the court found probable cause that Mr. Lagrone committed a felony. (41:11). Mr. Lagrone pled not guilty and not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect ("NGI"). (*Id.*).

Dr. John Pankiewicz examined Mr. Lagrone for purposes of the NGI plea and filed a report opining that while Mr. Lagrone's mental illness played some part in the offense, there was insufficient evidence to find that the "predominant factor in Mr. Lagrone's offense related behavior was a consequence of his mental illness." (8:9). Consequently, Dr. Pankiewicz could not conclude to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that Mr. Lagrone lacked substantial capacity to understand the wrongfulness of his actions or conform his behavior to the requirements of the law. (*Id.*).

Dr. Anthony Jurek, a defense expert, also examined Mr. Lagrone and filed a report regarding the NGI plea. Dr. Jurek opined that at the time of the offense, paranoid schizophrenia impaired Mr. Lagrone's capacity to understand the wrongfulness of his behavior and rendered him unable to conform his behavior to the requirements of law. (12:9-10).

Subsequently, defense counsel requested a second competency evaluation because when she went to meet with Mr. Lagrone he was "unable to function," and "bringing up inappropriate religious things in the middle of our discussions. He was shaking." (46:2-3). The court granted the request. (46:5). Dr. Deborah L. Collins filed a report opining that Mr. Lagrone was presently competent to proceed. (20:6). However, the report "urge[d] court officers to remain sensitive in the event of any significant changes in Mr. Lagrone's overall mental status and or compliance with psychiatric treatment. Such changes may signal fluctuations in his competency and warrant his re-examination." (*Id.*).

Bifurcated Criminal Proceeding

A. First Phase

For the guilt phase ("first phase"), Mr. Lagrone pled guilty to all five counts. (48:6).

A standard plea questionnaire was filed with the court along with numerous other documents including an addendum¹ (21:3), an e-mail from the State reflecting the plea

¹ The addendum stated that Mr. Lagrone was giving up his right to challenge the sufficiency of the complaint and "defenses such as alibi, intoxication, and self-defense." (21:3). The addendum also noted in handwriting that "[i]nsanity phase to be tried to a jury or judge. Not giving this up." (*Id.*).

offer (21:4), the State's original plea offer letter (21:5-6), a chart listing the penalties for each count and collateral consequences (21:6-10), and jury instructions for each count (21:11-24). Handwriting on the plea questionnaire referenced "NGI" and "phase II":

Constitutional Rights	Canremain Clentin Phase I
I understand that by entering this plea, I give up the following constitutional rights:	Not frue
I give up my right to a trial, but not on N.G.I.	for NGI
I give up my right to remain silent and I understand that my silence could not be used against I	me at trial.
I give up my right to remain silent and I understand that my silence could not be used against I give up my right to testify and present evidence at trial. Trucker phase I, Northon I give up my right to use subpoenas to require witnesses to come to court and testify for me at	II , True for
[2] I give up my right to use subpoenas to require witnesses to come to court and testify for me at	trial, Phase
give up my right to a jury trial, where all 12 jurors would have to agree that I am either guilty of	or not guilty. no the
I give up my right to confront in court the people who testify against me and cross-examine the	II.
I give up my right to make the State prove me guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.	Can
I understand the rights that have been checked and give them up of my own free will.	Cross-
	Phase #

(21:1; App. 119).²

During the plea colloquy, the circuit court confirmed generally that Mr. Lagrone understood all of the documents submitted to the court. (48:11-12). However, the circuit court never specifically confirmed that Mr. Lagrone understood that he had a right to testify at the second phase.

B. Second Phase

For the mental responsibility phase ("second phase"), Mr. Lagrone waived his right to a jury trial after an on-the-record colloquy with the court. (48:20-24). A two-day court trial took place, the Honorable Richard J. Sankovitz presiding. (49; 50; 51).

² Since the circuit court denied Mr. Lagrone's request for an evidentiary hearing, there is nothing in the record establishing the source of the handwriting on the plea questionnaire.

The defense presented testimony from arresting officer Jeffrey Stumpf, Mr. Lagrone's case manager Alan Balcerak, and Dr. Anthony Jurek, who opined that at the time of the offense Mr. Lagrone suffered from paranoid schizophrenia, which caused him to lack capacity to understand the wrongfulness of his behavior and rendered him unable to conform his behavior to the requirements of law. (49; 50). Mr. Lagrone did not testify.

Dr. John Pankiewicz testified for the State and opined that he could not find that at the time of the offense Mr. Lagrone lacked substantial capacity to understand the wrongfulness of his actions or conform his behavior to the requirements of the law. (51; 8). Additionally, the State provided the court with a recording of the statements Mr. Lagrone made to the police two days after his arrest. (51:19-26).

The court found Mr. Lagrone did not meet his burden of proving that at the time of the offense he lacked substantial capacity to understand the wrongfulness of his actions or conform his behavior to the requirements of the law. (51:41-42).

At no point during the second phase did the circuit court conduct a personal, on-the-record colloquy regarding whether Mr. Lagrone understood that he had a right to testify at the second phase, that the decision to testify was his to make, that no promises or threats were made to influence his decision, or that he had discussed his decision with his attorney. *See* Wis JI-Criminal SM-28.

C. Sentencing Hearing

On May 25, 2012, Mr. Lagrone was sentenced to a prison term of 12 years (six years of initial confinement and six years of extended supervision). (52:40, 45-46; 27).

Postconviction Proceedings

Mr. Lagrone filed a postconviction motion seeking an evidentiary hearing and an order granting a new trial on the second phase of the bifurcated criminal proceeding. (34:1, 5; App. 114, 118). As grounds, Mr. Lagrone asserted that the circuit court erred in failing to conduct an on-the-record colloquy regarding the waiver of his right to testify at the second phase, and that he did not understand that he had the right to testify at the second phase. (34:1, 4; App. 114, 117).

The Honorable Jeffrey A. Wagner denied Mr. Lagrone's postconviction motion without a hearing. (35; App. 111-13). The circuit court found that Mr. Lagrone did not have a fundamental constitutional right to testify during the second phase. (35:3; App. 113). The court stated that "[i]n the absence of either a fundamental right or a statutory duty on the part of the court to conduct a colloquy concerning the right to testify in a Phase II proceeding, the court declines to hold an evidentiary hearing, particularly where the defendant has not set forth anything in his motion of what his testimony would have been." (*Id.*).

The court of appeals affirmed in an unpublished decision. *State v. James Elvin Lagrone*, No. 2013AP1424-CR, unpublished slip op. (WI App Apr. 7, 2015) (App. 101-10). The court of appeals declined to decide whether there is a fundamental right to testify at the second phase of a bifurcated criminal proceeding, concluding that any error was

harmless. *Id.*, ¶ 13 (App. 106-07). Specifically, the court of appeals stated:

[w]hile it is of course the State's burden to prove that an error was harmless, it has adequately met that burden in a case where there was, by Lagrone's own admission, plenty of evidence to support the trial court's verdict and where Lagrone has not submitted any evidence to the contrary.³ As noted, Lagrone failed to offer any evidence regarding what his testimony at the second phase of his trial might have been. While his motion asserted that he did not understand that he had the right to testify at the second phase of the NGI proceeding, there was no affidavit explaining that he did not understand that he could have testified at the second phase of the proceeding. Likewise, there was no discussion, in the motion or in an affidavit, explaining why, if Lagrone did not truly understand that he could have testified, his plea questionnaire and waiver-of-rights form contained handwritten notation [sic] indicating that Lagrone was giving up his right to testify in the first phase but not the second phase of the proceeding. And again, there was no explanation of what Lagrone would have testified to at the second phase of the proceeding had he chosen to do so, or how that testimony would have affected the trial's outcome. Without any sort of offer of proof from Lagrone regarding what his testimony might have been, we cannot conclude that Lagrone's decision not to testify—regardless of whether that decision resulted from the trial court's error—had any effect on the trial's outcome.

Id., ¶ 18 (App. 108-09) (citations omitted). Footnote three states:

Lagrone does not argue that the evidence at the mental responsibility phase of his proceeding was insufficient to support the trial's verdict that Lagrone did not lack substantial capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his actions or to conform his behavior to the requirements of law.

Id., ¶ 18 (App. 108-09).

ARGUMENT

I. A Circuit Court Is Required to Conduct a Personal, On-The-Record Colloquy with a Defendant Regarding the Waiver of the Right to Testify at the Second Phase of a Bifurcated Criminal Proceeding.

A. Introduction.

"Every criminal defendant is privileged to testify in his own defense, or to refuse to do so." *Harris v. New York*, 401 U.S. 222, 225 (1971). "The decision whether [a] defendant will testify is a choice between mere passivity at trial and active participation through which the defendant can inject his own acts, voice and personality into the process. Taking the stand is the defendant's opportunity, if he wants it, to face his accusers and the jury, tell his story, submit to examination, and exercise such ability as he may have to persuade those who will make a decision that may vitally affect his life...." *Wright v. Estelle*, 572 F.2d 1071, 1081 (5th Cir. 1978) (Godbold, J., dissenting).

In *Rock v. Arkansas*, the United States Supreme Court held that a criminal defendant's right to testify on his own behalf is a fundamental constitutional right. 483 U.S. 44, 52 (1987). The right is rooted in several provisions of the federal constitution, including the Fourteenth Amendment's guarantee of due process of law, the Sixth Amendment's right to compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in the defendant's favor, and the Fifth Amendment's guarantee against compelled testimony. *Id.* at 51-53.

Likewise, Article I, Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution guarantees criminal defendants "the right to be heard by himself" and the right "to have compulsory process to compel the attendance of witnesses in his behalf."

Consistent with *Rock*, this Court has "affirm[ed] that a criminal defendant's constitutional right to testify on his or her behalf is a fundamental right." *State v. Weed*, 2003 WI 85, ¶ 39, 263 Wis. 2d 434, 666 N.W.2d 485.

In this case, Mr. Lagrone asserts that he had a state and federal constitutional right to testify at the mental responsibility phase ("second phase") of his bifurcated criminal proceeding, and the circuit court erred by failing to conduct an on-the-record colloquy regarding his waiver of the right to testify. Consequently, Mr. Lagrone is entitled to an evidentiary hearing regarding whether his waiver of the right to testify was knowing and intelligent.

B. Standard of review.

Whether the right to testify applies at the second phase of a bifurcated criminal proceeding and can be waived in the absence of a personal, on-the-record colloquy requires an application of constitutional principles, and is thus reviewed independently. *Weed*, 263 Wis. 2d 434, ¶ 12; *State v. Denson*, 2011 WI 70, ¶ 47, 335 Wis. 2d 681, 799 N.W.2d 831.

C. The evolution of Wisconsin law governing bifurcated criminal proceedings reflects that a defendant has a constitutional right to testify at the second phase.

In 1967, in *State ex rel. La Follette v. Raskin*, this Court established a bifurcated procedure when an individual alleges he or she is not guilty of criminal conduct by reason of mental disease or defect. 34 Wis. 2d 607, 614, 150 N.W.2d 318 (1967). *Raskin* addressed a statute that, at the time, established that pleas of not guilty and pleas of not guilty by reason of insanity were to be tried together, not separately. *Id.*

at 614-18. **Raskin** held that in order for the statute to conform to due process, a defendant was entitled to a sequential order of proof on the issue of guilt and insanity so that inculpatory statements in a compulsory mental examination would not be divulged to the jury before guilt was determined. **Id.** at 623-27.

Raskin's bifurcated trial process was subsequently codified in Wis. Stat. § 971.175. In 1987, the legislature replaced Wis. Stat. § 971.175 with Wis. Stat. § 971.165, which maintained "the basic bifurcated trial procedure with its sequential order of proof as first established in **Raskin**." **State v. Murdock**, 2000 WI App 170, ¶ 23, 238 Wis. 2d 301, 617 N.W.2d 2d 175. Section 971.165 provides for a "continuous trial" with two separate phases:

- (1) If a defendant couples a plea of not guilty with a plea of not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect:
- (a) There shall be a separation of the issues with a sequential order of proof in a continuous trial. The plea of not guilty shall be determined first and the plea of not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect shall be determined second.

Wis. Stat. § 971.165(1)(a). Mental disease or defect excluding responsibility is an affirmative defense, which the defendant must establish to a reasonable certainty by the greater weight of the credible evidence. Wis. Stat. § 971.15(3).

In 1988, in *State v. Koput*, this Court held that a unanimous jury verdict was not required at the second phase of a bifurcated proceeding. 142 Wis. 2d 370, 418 N.W.2d 804 (1988). *Koput* emphasized that the phases of a bifurcated trial serve different purposes—the first phase settles the issue of criminal guilt, while the second phase is dispositional in nature. *Id.* at 388-90. Thus, because the second phase is

dispositional in nature and has a different burden than the first phase, *Koput* found that a unanimous verdict was not required. *Id.* at 397-98.

Subsequently, in *Murdock*, the defendant argued, based on *Koput*, that the second phase was not a part of a criminal trial, thus, a criminal jury trial waiver statute was inapplicable at the second phase. 238 Wis. 2d 301, ¶ 17. The court of appeals rejected this argument, finding that *Koput* "did not clearly establish that the responsibility phase is sufficiently removed from the overall criminal proceedings..." *Id.*, ¶ 20. *Murdock* quoted *Koput's* statement that:

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