RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 11-11-2015

IN SUPREME COURT CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

No. 2013AP1424-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES ELVIN LAGRONE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND A DECISION AND ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE RICHARD J. SANKOWITZ AND THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER PRESIDING, RESPECTIVELY

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

KATHERINE D. LLOYD Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041801

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

II. Even if the circuit court's failure to engage Lagrone in a personal colloquy was error, the error was harmless.¹²

In the event that this Court is inclined to adopt Lagrone's suggestion that a court must engage in a personal colloquy when a defendant elects not to testify at the second phase of an NGI proceeding, or if this Court opts to save the constitutional questions that Lagrone has raised for another day, Lagrone is still not entitled to relief any possible error here was harmless.

A. A violation of a defendant's right to testify is subject to harmless error review.

Although "there are some constitutional rights so basic to a fair trial that their infraction can never be treated as harmless

¹² Lagrone requests that this Court remand his case to the circuit court for an evidentiary hearing on the issue of whether he knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waived his right to testify. Lagrone's Br. at 20-21. As the court of appeals concluded, this is unnecessary because any error in neglecting to perform the colloquy was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Lagrone*, 2013AP1424-CR, slip op. ¶13 (A-Ap.106-07).

error," not all constitutional violations automatically require reversal. *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 23 (1967) (footnote omitted). "Constitutional errors at trial fall into two categories: trial errors, which are subject to harmless error analysis, and structural errors, which 'defy analysis by "harmless error" standards.'" *State v. Hansbrough*, 2011 WI App 79, ¶10, 334 Wis. 2d 237, 799 N.W.2d 887 (quoting *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 309 (1991)).

"A structural error is a 'defect affecting the framework within which the trial proceeds, rather than simply an error in the trial process itself." *Hansbrough*, 334 Wis. 2d 237, ¶10 (citation omitted which quoted *Fulminante*, 499 U.S. at 310). "Such errors 'infect the entire trial process and necessarily render a trial fundamentally unfair." *Hansbrough*, 334 Wis. 2d 237, ¶10 (citation omitted). "Structural errors 'seriously affect the fairness, integrity or public reputation of judicial proceedings and are so fundamental that they are considered per se prejudicial." *Id*. (citation omitted).

The United States Supreme Court has found structural error in a "very limited class of cases." *See State v. Ford*, 2007 WI 138, ¶43, 306 Wis. 2d 1, 742 N.W. 2d 61. These include the complete denial of counsel, a biased trial judge, racial discrimination in grand jury selection, the denial of the right to self-representation at trial, the denial of a public trial and a defect in the reasonable doubt jury instruction. *Id*. ¶43 n.4.

On the other hand, "[c]onstitutional violations are generally subject to a harmless-error analysis." *State v. Flynn*, 190 Wis. 2d 31, 54, 527 N.W. 2d 343 (Ct. App. 1994). Indeed, there is a "'strong presumption that any other [constitutional] errors . . . are subject to a harmless-error analysis.'" *Hansbrough* 334 Wis. 2d 237, ¶11 (citation omitted) (brackets in original). Such errors are considered "trial error" and "may be 'quantitatively assessed' in the context of the other evidence presented in order to determine whether it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.* ¶10 (quoting *Fulminante*, 499 U.S. at 307-08).

Recently, this Court held that "the denial of the right to testify is subject to harmless error review." *State v. Nelson*, 2014 WI 70, ¶31, 355 Wis. 2d 722, 849 N.W.2d 317.¹³

B. How to assess whether an error is harmless

"An error is harmless if the beneficiary of the error proves 'beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." *State v. Hale*, 2005 WI 7, ¶60, 277 Wis. 2d 593, 691 N.W. 2d 637 (quoting *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967)).

C. Any error in failing to conduct a colloquy, or in excluding Lagrone's testimony, was harmless

Lagrone argues that the court of appeals' conclusion that any error from the circuit court's failure to conduct a colloquy was harmless was wrong because the court of appeals "ignored *Garcia*¹⁴ and instead erroneously applied the harmless error doctrine based on *State v. Nelson*[.]"¹⁵ Lagrone appears to believe that so long as he refuses to reveal what his testimony would have

¹³ Most courts that have considered this issue have reached the same conclusion. *See Ortega v. O'Leary*, 843 F.2d 258, 262 (7th Cir. 1988); *Ward v. Sternes*, 334 F.3d 696, 708 (7th Cir. 2003) (citing *Ortega*, 843 F.2d at 262); *Arredondo v. Pollard*, 498 F. Supp. 2d 1113, 1128 (E.D. Wis. 2007) (citing *Ortega*, 843 F.2d at 262); *Palmer v. Hendricks*, 592 F.3d 386, 398-99 (3d Cir. 2010); *Arthur v. United States*, 986 A.2d 398, 415 n.20 (D.C. 2009) (citing cases, and noting that trend in United States Circuit Courts of Appeals is to find violation subject to harmless error); *Woolfolk v. Commonwealth*, 339 S.W.3d 411, 418-19 (Ky. 2011); and *People v. Solomon*, 560 N.W.2d 651, 656 (Mich. Ct. App. 1996). ¹⁴ *State v. Garcia*, 2010 WI App 26, ¶14, 323 Wis. 2d 531, 779 N.W. 2d 718.

¹⁵ Lagrone's Br. at 25.

been, the State can never demonstrate that any error was harmless. Lagrone is mistaken.

Lagrone argues that *Garcia* supports his position that he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing and that he was not required to make an offer of proof.¹⁶ In *Garcia*, the court of appeals addressed Garcia's claim that he was entitled to a new trial because the circuit court failed to conduct a colloquy on whether he was knowingly waiving his right to testify. 323 Wis. 2d 531, ¶1. The court rejected Garcia's argument, concluding that the circuit court's postconviction hearing adequately established that Garcia knowingly waived his right to testify. *See id*.

The State acknowledges that *Garcia* approved of a postconviction hearing to address a defendant's claim that the circuit court failed to conduct a required colloquy concerning a defendant's right to testify at a criminal trial. But even if this Court concludes that a similar colloquy is required in the second phase of an NGI trial, *Garcia* does not dictate that Lagrone's case is not capable of harmless error assessment. Garcia predates *Nelson,* which unequivocally held that a violation of the right to testify is subject to harmless error review. See Nelson, 355 Wis. 2d 722, ¶31. In addition, it appears that the question before the court in Garcia was whether Garcia was entitled to a new trial or whether the evidentiary hearing sufficiently cured any error in failing to engage in a plea colloquy. *Garcia*, 323 Wis. 2d 531, ¶4. It does not appear that the question of whether the absence of Garcia's testimony was harmless error was before the court; thus, Garcia is of minimal value here.

The State believes that *Winters* is more instructive. In *Winters,* the defendant "complain[ed] that the trial court should have permitted him to revoke his waiver of his right to testify

¹⁶ Lagrone's Br. at 24, 26, 29 n.5, 30.

after he changed his mind overnight." 2009 WI App 48, ¶14, 317 Wis. 2d 401, 766 N.W. 2d 754. But *Winters* failed to make "an offer of proof at the time of trial or in the postconviction motion." *Id.* ¶16. The court emphasized that the trial was not the only opportunity for the defendant to make his requisite offer of proof. *Id.* ¶22. "[Winters] could have done so via an affidavit when he filed his postconviction motion. He did not." *Id.* The court held that this failure "operate[d] as a waiver of his right to have this issue decided." *Id.* ¶16.

Based on the only information submitted, we would have to speculate about the substance of the testimony Winters claims he would have given at trial, which we are not permitted to do. Accordingly, Winters's failure to provide an offer of proof either at trial or in the form of an affidavit in his postconviction motion prevents this court from considering whether the trial court erred in denying his request to withdraw his waiver of his right to testify.

Id. ¶24; *cf. State v. Brown*, 2003 WI App 34, ¶¶16-20, 260 Wis. 2d 125, 659 N.W.2d 110 (postconviction alibi claim forfeited where defendant made no offer of proof as to what his purported alibi testimony would have been).

Lagrone's attempt to distinguish *Winters* is unavailing.¹⁷ Lagrone argues that *Winters* is irrelevant because *Winters* previously waived his right to testify following a personal colloquy, but changed his mind and later sought permission to testify on his own behalf.¹⁸ But whether or not there was a

¹⁷ Lagrone's Br. at 23-24.

¹⁸ Although it was in another context, Lagrone ignores that he, too, previously waived his right to testify. Lagrone pleaded guilty to the charges against him and waived his right to testify (21:1; 48:9-11). In fact, next to the checked box on the plea questionnaire that states, "I give up my right to testify and present evidence at trial," someone hand-wrote, "True for phase I, not for II" (21:1). There is no challenge to Lagrone's waiver of his right to testify at the first phase of the trial. *See State v. Winters*, 2009 WI App 48, ¶ 15, 317 Wis. 2d 401, 766 N.W. 2d 754 (noting that *Winters* did not challenge

colloquy had no bearing on the *Winters* court's conclusion that a defendant must make an offer of proof concerning the substance of the allegedly excluded evidence in order for a court to assess its significance. 317 Wis. 2d 401, ¶¶18-24. Here, the evidence that Lagrone argues was improperly excluded was his own testimony. Like any other improperly excluded evidence, Lagrone must demonstrate what that evidence would have shown. *See* Wis. Stat. § 901.03(1)(b); *Winters*, 317 Wis. 2d 401, ¶¶18-24. Lagrone could have done this in his postconviction motion, but he chose not to do so. *See Winters*, 317 Wis. 2d 401, ¶¶19-24. Like *Winters*, "[t]he obligation to make an offer of proof was on [Lagrone.]" *Id.* ¶19.

In tandem with the *Winter* court's instruction to defendants to make an offer of proof when they argue that their testimony was erroneously excluded is this Court's conclusion in *Nelson* that the erroneously excluded evidence of a defendant's testimony is subject to harmless error review. *Nelson*, 355 Wis. 2d 722, ¶31.

Lagrone's attempt to limit *Nelson* to its facts is unavailing.¹⁹ While it is true, as Lagrone points out, that the court twice stated, "We conclude that harmless error review applies to the circuit court's alleged denial of Nelson's right to testify because its effect on the outcome of the trial is capable of assessment." *Nelson*, 355 Wis. 2d 722, ¶¶5, 52. Lagrone appears to believe that this statement somehow means that this Court intended its holding to apply to Nelson only because it could assess the error *in her case* because of the statements Nelson made. But Lagrone misreads *Nelson* for at least two reasons.

One, in reading the whole decision, it is clear that this Court held "that denial of the right to testify is subject to harmless error review" without any qualification that harmless error review

the initial waiver). Thus, Lagrone – like *Winters* – knowingly waived his right to testify.

¹⁹ Lagrone's Br. at 25-26.

applies only to facts similar to those found in *Nelson*. *Id.* ¶31. This is clear because this Court made its unequivocal conclusion after it set forth its analysis on the right to testify, the decision to testify and the application of harmless error review to other scenarios. *Id.* ¶¶19-31. After analyzing all of these principles, this Court concluded that any "error denying the defendant of the right to testify on his or her own behalf bears the hallmark of a trial error." Id. ¶32. A trial error, unlike a structural error, is an error subject to harmless error review. United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. 140, 148 (2006). This Court acknowledged that a defendant's testimony could be particularly important, but that "this does not make its absence incapable of assessment." *Nelson*, 355 Wis. 2d 722, ¶33. "Stated otherwise, denying a defendant the right to testify is not the type of error, 'the effect[] of which [is] inherently elusive, intangible, and [therefore] not susceptible to harmless error review." Id. (citation omitted) (brackets in original). This Court concluded that the denial of the right to testify – like the abridgment of numerous other constitutional rights – is subject to harmless error analysis. *Id.* ¶¶31-33. Thus, Lagrone's cherry-picked statements mean only that because a defendant's testimony is capable of assessment and therefore its erroneous exclusion is subject to harmless error review.

Two, Lagrone's argument that harmless error review applies in a case like *Nelson* – in which the defendant made a record as to what she wanted to testify to – but does not apply to him because he failed to make a record is nonsensical. Whether a constitutional right is a trial error, or a structural error, does not depend on the offer of proof made. Had Lagrone made an offer of proof on his allegedly unknowing waiver of his right to testify and an offer on the substance of his testimony, this Court may have found any denial of his right was not harmless. But because Lagrone failed to inform any court on how he wished to testify, his claim must fail.

Put another way, in this case, Lagrone claims that the circuit court erred when it failed to conduct a colloquy to determine whether he had waived his right to testify voluntarily, intelligently, and knowingly. Even if the circuit court erred, then only one of two scenarios is possible. One, Lagrone's waiver was voluntary, intelligent and knowing. If this is the case, then the failure to provide the colloquy was necessarily harmless. If this is not the case, then the waiver was not voluntary, intelligent and knowing and Lagrone wanted to testify. If Lagrone wanted to testify, he was required to tell the court what his testimony would have been in order to assess whether the exclusion of the evidence was harmless or prejudicial. But Lagrone has refused to tell the courts what his testimony would have been. An offer of proof is necessary to determine prejudice. See State v. Moffett, 46 Wis. 2d 164, 168-69, 174 N.W. 2d 263 (1970). Without any explanation as to how Lagrone's testimony would have altered the outcome of the responsibility phase, this Court must find the exclusion of the evidence harmless.

Finally, the State notes that Lagrone's central proposition – that the harmless error doctrine does not apply when a circuit court fails to conduct a colloquy at the responsibility phase of an NGI proceeding – ignores that the responsibility phase is fundamentally different than the guilt phase of the trial. In *Magett*, the trial court refused to conduct the responsibility phase of the trial because it concluded that the defendant had not proffered sufficient evidence from which a jury could find that he was not responsible for the crime. 355 Wis. 2d 617, ¶¶1, 24. In other words, the circuit court directed the verdict "for the State." Id. **[**62. This Court held that while "it is preferable, fairer, and more judicious to allow a defendant to put on his evidence in the responsibility phase before dismissing the NGI defense" it was still possible to assess the circuit court's decision dismissing the case for harmless error and find that the "dismissal did not affect the outcome of the case." Id. ¶¶65-66. Thus, if a trial court's refusal to *conduct* the responsibility phase of an NGI proceeding

may be subject to harmless error review than surely the exclusion of the defendant's testimony at the responsibility phase – a phase that is not even constitutionally necessary – is also subject to harmless error review.

Lagrone points out that harmless error harmless error review is different from the test for the sufficiency of the evidence²⁰ and the State agrees. And although the burden is on the State in the harmless error context, Lagrone ignores that the burden was on him to show that he was not responsible for the crime. *See Magett*, 355 Wis. 2d 617, ¶39; *Hale*, 277 Wis. 2d 593, ¶60. Even in viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Lagrone, there is no reasonable probability of a different result at the responsibility phase of the trial.²¹

²⁰ Lagrone's Br. at 27-28.

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